
STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

http://ethics.nv.gov 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING 
 

NAME OF ORGANIZATION:  NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
DATE & TIME OF MEETING:  Wednesday, May 20, 2015 at 9:00 a.m.  
 
PLACE OF MEETING:  Members of the public may attend at the following location: 

 
Grant Sawyer State Office Building 

Gaming Control Board 
Room 2450 

555 E. Washington Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 

 
 

AGEND A 
 
NOTES: 
 

 Two or more agenda items may be combined for consideration.  
 At any time, an agenda item may be taken out of order, removed, or delayed.  
 Public comment will be accepted at the beginning of the open session and again before the 

conclusion of the open session of the meeting.  Comment and/or testimony by the public 
may be limited to three (3) minutes.  No action may be taken on any matter referred to in 
remarks made as public comment.  Members of the public may also submit written public 
comment to the Commission at NCOE@ethics.nv.gov.  

 
CLOSED SESSION: 

 
For 
Possible 
Action* 

A. Closed Session pursuant to NRS 281A.440(8) for consideration of a Jurisdictional 
Appeal by the Requesters of Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 15-13N and 
Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 15-17N regarding confidential Subject, 
submitted pursuant to NAC 281A.405. 

For 
Possible 
Action* 

B. Closed Session for presentation, discussion and consideration of a Motion 
concerning Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 14-59C, regarding Gerald 
Antinoro, Sheriff, Storey County, State of Nevada, submitted pursuant to NRS 
281A.440(2).  Although this RFO is no longer confidential under NRS 281A.440(8) 
after the determination of the Investigatory Panel, the Motion presented contains 
otherwise protected confidential information and materials, and the Motion will be 
considered in a Closed Session pursuant to NRS 281A.440(15). 

For 
Possible 
Action* 

C. Closed Session for discussion and consideration of a Proposed Stipulated 
Agreement concerning Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 14-64C regarding 
Ashok Mirchandani, Director, Nevada Department of Business and Industry, 
submitted pursuant to NRS 281A.440(2). 

 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 

Notice of May 20, 2015 Commission Meeting and Agenda 
Page 1 of 3 

 

http://ethics.nv.gov/
mailto:NCOE@ethics.nv.gov


 D. Closed Session for discussion and consideration of potential or pending litigation. 

 
OPEN SESSION: 

 
 1. Call to Order, Roll Call, and Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

 
 
 
 

  

 2. Open Session for Public Comment. Comment and/or testimony by any member 
of the public will be limited to three (3) minutes. No action will be taken under 
this agenda item. 

For 
Possible 
Action* 

3. Open Session for determination of a Motion concerning Third-Party Request for 
Opinion No. 14-59C regarding Gerald Antinoro, Sheriff, Storey County, State 
of Nevada, submitted pursuant to NRS 281A.440(2).  Although this RFO is no 
longer confidential under NRS 281A.440(8) after the determination of the 
Investigatory Panel, the Motion presented contains otherwise protected 
confidential information and materials, and the Motion will be presented, 
discussed and considered in a Closed Session pursuant to NRS 281A.440(15). 

For 
Possible 
Action* 

4. Open Session for consideration and approval of a Proposed Stipulated 
Agreement concerning Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 14-64C regarding 
Ashok Mirchandani, Director, Nevada Department of Business and Industry, 
submitted pursuant to NRS 281A.440(2). 

For 
Possible 
Action 

5. Open Session for consideration and approval of Minutes of the March 18, 2015 
Commission Meeting. 

For 
Possible 
Action 

6. Open Session for report by the Executive Director and Commission Counsel on 
agency status and operations, including, without limitation, an update regarding the 
status of pending Requests for Opinions, the Executive Director’s proposed 
outreach and education program, and the development of an externship program 
with UNLV’s William S. Boyd School of Law. 
 

For 
Possible 
Action 

7. Open Session for discussion and potential direction to the Executive Director 
regarding the 2015 Session of the Nevada Legislature, including an update on the 
Commission’s legislative measures (A.B. 60) and budget presentations before the 
Nevada Legislature. 

 
8. Open Session for Commissioner Comment on matters including, without 

limitation, future agenda items, upcoming meeting dates and meeting 
procedures. 

 
9. Open Session for Public Comment. Comment and/or testimony by any 

member of the public may be limited to three (3) minutes. No action will be 
taken under this agenda item. 

 10. Adjournment. 

*A meeting or hearing held by the Commission pursuant to NRS 281A.440 to receive information or evidence 
regarding the conduct of a public officer or employee, and deliberations of the Commission regarding such a 
public officer or employee, are exempt from the provisions of NRS Chapter 241, The Open Meeting Law.  As a 
result, these agenda items, or any portion of them, may be heard in closed session. 
  

 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 

Notice of May 20, 2015 Commission Meeting and Agenda 
Page 2 of 3 

 



NOTES: 
 

 The Commission is pleased to make reasonable accommodations for any member of the public who has a 
disability and wishes to attend the meeting. If special arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please 
notify the Nevada Commission on Ethics, in writing at 704 W. Nye Lane, Ste. 204, Carson City, Nevada 
89703; via email at ncoe@ethics.nv.gov or call 775-687-5469 as far in advance as possible. 

 
 To request an advance copy of the supporting materials for any open session of this meeting, contact 

Executive Director Yvonne Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. at ncoe@ethics.nv.gov or call 775-687-5469. 
 

 This Agenda and supporting materials are posted and are available not later than the 3rd working day before 
the meeting at the Commission’s office, 704 W. Nye Lane, Ste. 204, Carson City, Nevada, or on the 
Commission’s website at www.ethics.nv.gov.  A copy also will be available at the meeting location on the 
meeting day. 

 
This Notice of Public Meeting and Agenda was posted in compliance with NRS 241.020 before 9:00 a.m. on 
the third working day before the meeting at the following locations: 
 

• Nevada Commission on Ethics, 704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204, Carson City 
• Nevada Commission on Ethics' website: http://ethics.nv.gov 
• Nevada Public Notice Website: http://notice.nv.gov 
• State Library & Archives Building, 100 North Stewart Street, Carson City 
• Blasdel Building, 209 E. Musser Street, Carson City 
• Washoe County Administration Building, 1001 East 9th Street, Reno 
• Grant Sawyer State Office Building, 555 E. Washington Ave., Las Vegas 

 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 

Notice of May 20, 2015 Commission Meeting and Agenda 
Page 3 of 3 

 

mailto:ncoe@ethics.nv.gov
mailto:ncoe@ethics.nv.gov
http://www.ethics.nv.gov/
http://ethics.nv.gov/


AGENDA ITEM NO. 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 3 

 





































 
 
 
 
 

Th
is 
Pa
ge
 In
ten
tio
na
lly
 Le
ft 
Bla
nk























STATE OF NEVADA 
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
 
In the Matter of the Third-Party Request  
for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of  
Gerald Antinoro, Sheriff, Storey County, 
State of Nevada, 
         Public Officer. / 

Request for Opinion No. 14-59C 

 
PANEL DETERMINATION 

NRS 281A.440(5); NAC 281A.440 
 

The Nevada Commission on Ethics received a Third-Party Request for Opinion 
(RFO), No. 14-59C, regarding the conduct of Gerald Antinoro (“Antinoro”) alleging certain 
violations of the Ethics in Government Law set forth in NRS 281A. 

 
At the time of the alleged conduct, Antinoro served as Sheriff of Storey County, a 

public officer as defined in NRS 281A.160.  The Commission has jurisdiction over the 
conduct of public officers pursuant to NRS 281A.280.  Therefore, the Commission has 
jurisdiction in this matter. 

 
 On February 18, 2015, pursuant to NRS 281A.440(5), an Investigatory Panel 
consisting of Commissioners Gregory J. Gale and Cheryl A. Lau, Esq. reviewed the 
following: 1) Request for Opinion; 2) Subject’s written response; 3) the results of the 
Commission’s related investigation and 4) the Associate Counsel’s Report and 
Recommendation on behalf of the Executive Director.   
 
 Under NAC 281A.435, the Panel concludes that the facts do not establish credible 
evidence to substantiate just and sufficient cause for the Commission to consider the 
alleged violations of NRS 281A.400(1) and (7).  Therefore, these allegations are 
dismissed. 
 
 However, the Panel unanimously concludes that credible evidence does support 
just and sufficient cause for the Commission to hold a hearing and render an opinion 
regarding whether Antinoro violated NRS 281A.020 and NRS 281A.400(2) and (9).  
 
 Therefore, the Investigatory Panel refers the alleged violations of NRS 281A.020 
and NRS 281A.400(2) and (9) to the Commission to hold a hearing and render an opinion.  
Under NRS 281A.440, a notice of hearing and a procedural order will follow. 
 
 
   
 Dated: February 26, 2015 By:   /s/ Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson  
 Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
 Executive Director 

 
Panel Determination 

Request for Opinion 14-59C 
Page 1 of 2 

 
 



CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 
 
 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on 
this day in Carson City, Nevada, I transmitted a true and correct copy of the PANEL 
DETERMINATION in Request for Opinion No. 14-59C, via and E-mail and U.S. Mail to 
the parties and interested persons as follows: 
 
 

Gerald Antinoro 
P.O. Box 88 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
 

Email:  gantinoro@storeycounty.org 

Shawn Mahan 
P.O. Box 1134 
Virginia City, NV 89440 

 

             
DATED:  February 26, 2015          

Employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics 
 

 
Panel Determination 

Request for Opinion 14-59C 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 



 
 

STATE OF NEVADA  
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
 

 
In the Matter of the Third-Party Request for 
Opinion Concerning the Conduct of Gerald 
Antinoro, Sheriff, County of Storey,  
State of Nevada, 
                   Subject. / 

Request for Opinion No. 14-59C 
 

  
THIRD-AMENDED NOTICE OF HEARING AND SCHEDULING ORDER 

 
This Third-Amended Scheduling Order amends all previously issued scheduling orders.   

 
Approval of Stipulation Regarding Scheduling 

 
Subject Gerald Antinoro, by and through his attorney of record, Brent Kolvet, Esq. has 

indicated an intent to file a Motion to Dismiss Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 14-59C 
(“Motion”).  Mr. Kolvet and Associate Counsel, Jill C. Davis, Esq.1 have stipulated to a proposed 
Briefing Schedule for the Motion and imposition of rescheduling of proceedings until a decision 
on the Motion is rendered by the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”).  If the Motion 
rendered by the Commission is not dispositive, the hearing before the Commission on the Third-
Party Request for Opinion No. 14-59C is to be scheduled in July of 2015, or as soon thereafter 
as the matter may be heard by the Commission.   

 
NOTICE OF HEARING ON MOTION TO DISMISS 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that, subject to a Motion being filed, the Commission has 

accepted the proposed briefing schedule for the Motion as outlined below and has set a hearing 
for the Commission to consider the Motion at the following time and location: 

 
The Hearing Will Take Place: 

 
Wednesday, May 20, 2015 at 10:00 a.m., or as soon thereafter as the 

Commission is able to hear the matter, at the following location: 
 

Grant Sawyer State Office Building 
Gaming Control Board Room 

Room 2450 
555 E. Washington Avenue 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 
 

  

1 In accordance with NRS 281A.440 and NAC 281A.460(1)(e) and 281A.500, the Commission has engaged the services of an 
Associate Counsel to ensure administrative due process with the duties of the position of the Executive Director to present the 
evidence and legal arguments to the Commission and respond to the Subject’s presentations and contentions. 

 
Third-Amended Notice of Hearing and Scheduling Order 

Request for Opinion No. 14-59C 
Page 1 of 7 

 

                                                 



 
 

The Briefing Schedule for the Motion is as follows: 
 
Motion Deadline: Last date to file and serve the Motion is Friday, April 24, 2015, on or 

before 5:00 p.m.  Since this date is on a Friday by stipulation of the Parties2, filing of such 
Motion with the Commission and service on opposing Party shall be via e-mail.    

 
Opposition Deadline:  Last date to file and serve the Opposition is Monday, May 4, 

2015. 
 
Reply Deadline:  Last date to file and serve the Reply is Monday, May 11, 2015.  
 
Subject Antinoro may appear in person or through his attorney of record at the hearing 

on the Motion.  If the Motion is not dispositive of all issues in this matter, the Commission has 
set the matter for hearing in accordance with the following notice of hearing. 

 
NOTICE OF HEARING ON THIRD-PARTY REQUEST FOR OPINION 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, the Commission has set a hearing for July 15-16, 2015 to 

consider alleged violations of the Nevada Ethics in Government Law set forth in Chapter 281A of 
the Nevada Revised Statutes (“NRS”) by Subject Gerald Antinoro (“Subject”). 

 
On or about February 26, 2014, the Commission served Subject with: (1) a Panel 

Determination enumerating the allegations to be considered by the Commission in accordance 
with NRS Chapter 281A and Chapter 281A of the Nevada Administrative Code (“NAC”), and (2) 
a Notice of Hearing and Scheduling Order.  A First-Amended Notice of Hearing and Scheduling 
Order was issued on March 17, 2015. This Second-Amended Notice of Hearing and Scheduling 
Order was issued on April 8, 2015.  This amended Notice and Order shall supersede the 
provisions of all previous Notices and Orders.  Pursuant to NRS 281A.440(6), Subject waived the 
statutory time limits for a hearing in this matter. 

 
The hearing will assist the Commission to determine whether a violation of the Nevada 

Ethics in Government Law occurred and, if a violation is found, whether such violation is willful 
and whether any penalties will be imposed by the Commission pursuant to NRS 281A.480. 

 
THE HEARING WILL TAKE PLACE: 

 
Wednesday, July 15, 2015 at a time to be determined, and may continue, if 

necessary, on Thursday, July 16, 2015 at a time to be announced by the 
Commission, at a location to be determined and noticed at a later date. 

 
Subject must be present at the hearing location when this matter is called.  If Subject is 

not present when this hearing is called, the Commission may consider as true the alleged 
violations specified in the Panel Determination.  Please direct any hearing scheduling matters to 
Commission Counsel, Tracy L. Chase, Esq., at (775) 687-5469 or via email at 
tchase@ethics.nv.gov. 

 
Although the hearing is exempt from Nevada’s Open Meeting Law pursuant to NRS 

281A.440(15), the Commission makes every effort to open the hearing to the public.  A record 

2 In accordance with NAC 281A.060, the Subject or his or her counsel, any staff of the Commission who investigate a third-party 
request for opinion and any other person who the Commission reasonably determines will be treated as a party in the matter before 
the Commission are considered “Parties.”   

 
Third-Amended Notice of Hearing and Scheduling Order 

Request for Opinion No. 14-59C 
Page 2 of 7 

 

                                                 



 
 

will be made by a certified court reporter.  Subject has the right to appear, be represented by legal 
counsel, hear evidence presented, respond to evidence, and present evidence on his behalf. 
 

In accordance with the Scheduling Order outlined below, Subject has the right to request 
that the Commission issue subpoenas on his behalf to compel witnesses to testify and/or produce 
evidence.  In making this request, Subject may be required to demonstrate the relevance of the 
witnesses’ testimony and/or evidence.  Other rights are found in NRS 281A, NRS 233B and NAC 
281A.  The Commission must support any finding of a violation of NRS 281A by a preponderance 
of the evidence. 
 

SCHEDULING ORDER 
 
The Commission is scheduled to hear this matter on July 15-16, 2015.  The Commission’s 

Executive Director, through the Associate Counsel, and the Subject (hereafter referred to 
respectively as a “Party” or the “Parties,” as applicable) shall comply with the following scheduling 
order: 
 

1. APPEARANCE. 
 

Pursuant to NRS 281A.300, the Commission has already requested the appearance at 
hearing of Subject in its prior Notices and Scheduling Orders and has received a confirmation that 
Subject will appear at the hearing in July.   
 

2. SUBPOENA POWERS.  
 

On or before Monday, May 25, 2015, the Parties may submit a written request for the 
Commission to issue subpoenas for the production of documents or to compel the attendance of 
witnesses, if any, pursuant to NRS 281A.300.  Each Party shall serve such subpoenas in the 
manner provided in the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure for service of subpoenas in a civil action 
and must pay the costs of such service. 
 

3. DISCOVERY/INVESTIGATION. 
 
 Pursuant to NRS 281A.290 and 281A.440 and NAC 281A.270, on or before Monday, 
June 15, 2015, the Parties may engage in continued investigation of facts and exchange written 
discovery interrogatories and requests for production.  Such requests shall not be costly or 
burdensome.  All responses to written discovery requests must be completed not later than 3 
business days after receipt of the discovery request.  Within the limits of time available for 
satisfying the requirements and deadlines set forth in this scheduling order and preparing for 
hearing, a party may request to depose any witnesses.  Such depositions may be taken by 
telephone as agreed by counsel.  Any disagreement regarding depositions of witnesses may be 
resolved by issuing subpoenas to compel the testimony of such witnesses at the hearing.  
 

4. MOTIONS.   
 
 On or before Monday, June 15, 2015, the Parties may submit written discovery-related 
and procedural motions to the Commission.  The opposing Party shall submit a written response 
to any such motion not later than 3 business days after receipt of the motion.  A reply to any 
responsive pleading may be provided by oral argument during the hearing at the discretion of the 
Commission.   
 
 On or before Monday, June 22, 2015, the Parties may submit written non-discovery-
related and substantive/dispositive motions to the Commission.  The opposing Party shall submit 

 
Third-Amended Notice of Hearing and Scheduling Order 

Request for Opinion No. 14-59C 
Page 3 of 7 

 



 
 

a written response to any such motion not later than 3 business days after receipt of the motion.  
A reply to any responsive pleading may be provided by oral argument during the hearing at the 
discretion of the Commission. 
 
 The Parties shall submit to the Commission twelve (12) copies of any motion or response, 
including exhibits to the motion or response.  All motions and responses must be bound and page 
numbered.  The Executive Director/Associate Counsel’s motions or responses must include a 
green cover sheet and the Subject’s motions or responses must include a yellow or goldenrod 
cover sheet. 
 

5. PREHEARING STATEMENTS.   
 
 On or before Thursday, June 25, 2015, the Parties shall submit written prehearing 
statements to the Commission.   
 
 The Parties shall submit to the Commission twelve (12) copies of the prehearing 
statement.  The prehearing statements must be bound and page numbered.  The Executive 
Director/Associate Counsel’s prehearing statement must include a green cover sheet and the 
Subject’s prehearing statement must include a yellow or goldenrod cover sheet.   
 
 The Prehearing Statements must include the following information: 

 
a) Statement of Relevant Facts 
 
A brief statement of relevant facts, including any admitted or undisputed facts, not to 
exceed one page. 

 
b) Claims and Defenses 

 
A concise statement, not to exceed 2 pages, of the party’s allegations or defenses and 
the facts supporting the same.  Such allegations, defenses and facts shall be organized 
by listing each essential element of the allegation or defense and stating the facts in 
support of each such element as they relate to specific provisions of NRS Chapter 281A. 
 
c) Statement of Issues of Law 
 
A statement of any issues of law, not to exceed 2 pages, supported by authorities with a 
brief summary of the relevant rule and without additional argument.  The parties should 
emphasize any Commission opinions deemed relevant and applicable. 

 
d) Witnesses 
 
The names of each witness, except impeaching witnesses, the party expects to call, a 
clear statement of the expected testimony of each witness and its relevance, and an 
estimate of the time the party will require for the testimony of each witness.  To the extent 
possible, provide an estimate of time for cross-examination of the opposing party’s 
witnesses. 

 
e) Exhibits 
 
A list of the exhibits expected to be identified and introduced at hearing for the purpose of 
developing the evidentiary record and a concise statement of the relevancy of each 
exhibit. 

 
Third-Amended Notice of Hearing and Scheduling Order 

Request for Opinion No. 14-59C 
Page 4 of 7 

 



 
 

f) Stipulations 
 
A concise statement of any stipulations regarding the admissibility of an exhibit or 
expected testimony of any witness offered by the opposing party. 
 
g) Motions 
 
A brief summary of any pre-hearing procedural or substantive motions, not to exceed one 
paragraph.  Except for any procedural or substantive motions that arise during the hearing, 
all pre-hearing procedural and substantive motions must be submitted in accordance with 
this Scheduling Order. 

   
h) Other 
 
Any other appropriate comments, suggestions or information which may assist the 
Commission in the disposition of the case, not to exceed one page. 

 
6. EXHIBIT BOOKS.   

 
 On or before Thursday July 2, 2015, the Parties shall submit to the Commission twelve 
(12) copies of an exhibit book(s) consisting of the exhibits, if any, expected to be identified and 
introduced as evidence at the hearing.  The exhibit book(s) must include an index of the exhibits 
and be bound and Bates numbered.   
 

a) The cover of the Executive Director/Associate Counsel’s exhibit book(s) must be green 
and the exhibit book(s) must be tabbed and identified by numbers.   
 

b) The cover of the Subject’s exhibit book(s) must be yellow or goldenrod and the exhibit 
book must be tabbed and identified by letters. 

 
7. OBJECTIONS. 

 
 On or before Tuesday, July 7, 2015, the Parties shall submit a concise statement of any 
objections to the admissibility of any exhibit identified by the other party and, to the extent 
possible, the expected testimony of any witnesses.  Such statement shall not exceed 2 pages.  If 
no objection is stated as to any exhibit or expected testimony, the Commission will presume that 
there is no objection to the admission of the listed exhibit or expected testimony into evidence.  
  

8. SUBMISSION AND SERVICE REQUIREMENTS.   
 

The Parties shall submit all documents not later than 5:30 p.m. (the Commission’s close 
of business) on the respective dates outlined herein to the Office of the Commission located at 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204, Carson City, Nevada 89703, care of Commission Counsel, Tracy L. 
Chase, Esq., or electronically to tchase@ethics.nv.gov.  Electronic submission does not eliminate 
the Parties’ obligations to provide physical copies of relevant documents to the Commission as 
outlined herein. 

 
Each Party shall serve its documents on the other Party by physical delivery or electronic 

mail not later than 5:30 p.m. on the respective dates outlined herein as follows: 

 
Third-Amended Notice of Hearing and Scheduling Order 

Request for Opinion No. 14-59C 
Page 5 of 7 

 



 
 

 
Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 

Executive Director 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 West Nye Lane, Suite 204 

Carson City, NV 89703 
ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov 

 
Jill C. Davis, Esq. 
Associate Counsel 

Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 West Nye Lane, Suite 204 

Carson City, NV 89703 
jilldavis@ethics.nv.gov 

 
Brent Kolvet, Esq. 

Thorndal Armstrong et al 
6590 S. McCarran Blvd. 

Suite B 
Reno, NV 89509 

btk@thorndal.com 
 

  
 
A certificate of service shall be included verifying service as required herein. 
 
9. SUGGESTED QUESTIONS FOR WITNESSES. 

 
If Shawn Mahan, the Requester, wishes to question a witness at the hearing as authorized 

by NRS 281A.440(11), he must submit such questions in writing to the Commission’s Executive 
Director, in care of Jill C. Davis, Esq., on or before Monday, July 6, 2015.  The Executive Director 
may submit the questions to the Commission if she deems the questions relevant and appropriate.  
The Commission is not required to ask any question so submitted. 
 

10. EXTENSIONS AND CONTINUANCES. 
 

The Parties may not agree to extensions of the deadlines included herein without the 
written consent of the Commission.  Extensions will not be granted except in the case of good 
cause shown. 

 
No request for continuance of the scheduled hearing will be granted except upon 

extraordinary circumstances stated in written motion. 
 
11. PREHEARING CONFERENCE.   

 
After the receipt of Prehearing Statements, the Commission will set a prehearing 

conference between the Parties and the Chair to be held before the hearing set for this matter.  
 

12. HEARING SCHEDULE. 
 

The Commission will set a hearing schedule after receipt of Prehearing Statements. 
 
 

DATED:       April 15, 2015     /s/ Tracy L. Chase  
 Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
 Commission Counsel 

 
Third-Amended Notice of Hearing and Scheduling Order 

Request for Opinion No. 14-59C 
Page 6 of 7 

 



 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on this 
day in Carson City, Nevada, I transmitted a true and correct copy of the THIRD-AMENDED 
NOTICE OF HEARING AND SCHEDULING ORDER in Request for Opinion No. 14-59C, via 
email and U.S. Mail, addressed as follows:

 
Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
Executive Director 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, Nevada 89703 
 
Jill C. Davis, Esq. 
Associate Counsel 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, Nevada 89703 
 

 
Email:  ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov 
 
 
 
 
 
Email:  jilldavis@ethics.nv.gov 
 

Brent Kolvet, Esq. 
Thorndal Armstrong et al 
6590 S. McCarran Blvd., Suite B 
Reno, NV 89509 
 

Email:  btk@thorndal.com 
 
 
 
 

Shawn Mahan 
P.O. Box 1134 
Virginia City, NV 89440 

Email: knowyourself@yahoo.com 
 

 
 

 

DATED:     April 15, 2015     
 An employee, Nevada Commission on Ethics 

 

 
Third-Amended Notice of Hearing and Scheduling Order 

Request for Opinion No. 14-59C 
Page 7 of 7 

 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 4 

 



F 
I. 
I 
r· 

r ; .:. ... Ji.!& :aa;;,;a %§.JIQJ)ls:::e;:s::i!k-J j¥ 

I 

NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
• ;,. .. ~ I u , ;~· fHfRD-PARTY REQUEST FOR OPINION 

l IJ - lo 4 \ NRS 281A.440(2) COMMISSION 
-1 1 ON ETHICS 

. r-~ '• . SEP 2 2 2014 

1. Provide the fol]owing_information for the public officer or employee you allege violated the Nevada Ethics in 
Government Law, NRS Chapter 281A. (If you allege that more than one public officer or employee has 
violated the law, use a separate form for each individual.) 

NAME: TITLE OF PUBLIC 

Ashok Mirchandani OFFICE: Deputy Director (Last, First) (Position: e.g. city manager) 

PUBLIC ENTITY: 
Department of Business and Industry (Name of the entity employing 

this position: e.g. the City of XYZ) 

ADDRESS: 5 5 5 E. Washington Ave. CITY, STATE, Las Vegas, NV 89101 (Street number and name) ZIP CODE 

TELEPHONE: 
Work: IOther: (Home, cell) 
702-486-2750 E-MAIL: 

2. Describe in specific detail the public officer's or employee's conduct that you allege violated NRS Chapter 
281A. (You must include specific facts and circumstances to support your a/legation: times, places, 
and the name and position of each person involved.) 

Check here I./ I if additional pages are attached. 
See the attached Report and Supporting Documentation. 

3. Is the alleged conduct the subject of any action currently pending before another administrative or judicial body? 
If yes, describe: 

Initial report has been made to the Office of the Attorney General and the United States Department of the Treasury. 

4. What provisions of NRS Chapter 281A are relevant to the conduct alleged? Please check all that apply. 

Ii S_tatutil -"' 

[Z] NRS 281A.020(1) 

D NRS 281A.400(1) 

[Z] NRS 281A.400(2) 

D NRS 281A.400(3) 

Revised 0&'01 /2013 M:LM.c 
tb..w. Carn1s::b'1aiEti::i3>1J 

' :.Ei;sencetof'Statute:. A M" ~ _, ,_ .. il 
...,_ . .. .. " 

Failing to hold public office as a public trust; failing to avoid conflicts between public and private interests. 

Seeking or accepting any gift, service, favor, employment, engagement, emolument or economic opportunity which would 
tend improperly to Influence a reasonable person in his position to depart from the faithful and impartial discharge of his 
public duties. 
Using his position in government to secure or grant unwarranted privileges, preferences, exemptions or advantages for 
himself, any business entity in which he has a significant pecuniary interest, or any person to whom he has a commitment 
In a private capacity to the Interests of that person. 

Participating as an agent of government In the negotiation or execution of a contract between the government and any 
business entity in which he has a significant pecuniary interest. 

Third-Party Request for Opinion 
Page 1of3 

\ 



D NRS 281A.400(4) Accepting any salary, retainer, augmentation, expense allowance or other compensation from any private source for the 
performance of his duties as a public officer or employee. 

[{] 
Acquiring, through his public duties or relationships, any information which by law or practice is not at the time available 

NRS 281A.400(5) to people generally, and using the Information to further the pecuniary Interests of himself or any other person or business 
entitv. 

D NRS 281A.400(6) Suppressing any governmental report or other document because it might tend to affect unfavorably his pecuniary 
interests. 

D NRS 281A.400(7) Using governmental time, property, equipment or other facility to benefit his personal or financial interest. (Some 
exceptions apply). 

D 
A State Legislator using governmental time, property, equipment or other facility for a nongovernmental purpose or for the 

NRS 281A.400(8) private benefit of himself or any other person, or requiring or authorizing a legislative employee, while on duty, to perform 
oersonal services or assist in a orivate activitv. ISome exceotions aooivl. 

[{] NRS 281A.400(9) Attempting to benefit his personal or financial interest through the influence of a subordinate. 

D NRS 281A.400(10) Seeking other employment or contracts through the use of his official position. 

D NRS 281A.410 Failing to file a disclosure of representation and counseling of a private person before public agency. 

[{] NRS 281A.420(1) Falling to sufficiently disclose a conflict of interest. 

[{] NRS 281A.420(3) Failing to abstain from acting on a matter in which abstention is required. 

D NRS 281A.430/530 Engaging in government contracts in which public officer or employee has a significant pecuniary Interest. 

D NRS 281A.500 Failing to timely file an ethical acknowledgment. 

D NRS 281A.510 Accepting or receiving an improper honorarium. 

D NRS 281A.520 Requesting or otherwise causing a governmental entity to incur an expense or make an expenditure to support or oppose 
a ballot question or candidate during the relevant timeframe. 

D NRS 281A.550 Failing to honor the applicable "cooling off' period after leaving public service. 

5. Identify all persons who have knowledge of the facts and circumstances you have described, as well as the 
nature of the testimony the person will provide. Check here I./ I if additional pages are attached. 

NAME and TITLE: 
Person #1) 

ADDRESS: 

TELEPHONE: 

NATURE OF 
TESTIMONY: 

NAME and TITLE: 
Person #2) 

ADDRESS: 

iTELEPHONE: 

NATURE OF 
!TESTIMONY: 

Revised O&U1 /2013 f.£1.M.c 
r kNOOa Camiri:.na1Eh:sam 

See Report and Documentation Submitted Herewith. 

Work: 

Work: 

CITY, STATE, ZIP 

IOther: (Home, cell) 
E-MAIL: 

CITY, STATE, ZIP 

IOther: (Home, cell) 
E-MAIL: 

Third-Party Request for Opinion 
Page 2 of3 



6. YOU MUST SUBMIT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT YOUR ALLEGATIONS PURSUANT TO NRS 281A.440(2)(b)(2). 
Attach all documents or items you believe provide credible evidence to support your allegations. NAC 281A.435(3) defines 
credible evidence as any reliable and competent form of proof provided by witnesses, records, documents, exhibits, minutes, 
agendas, videotapes, photographs, concrete objects, or other similar items that would reasonably support the allegations 
made. A newspaper article or other media report will not support your allegations if it is offered by itself. 

State the total number of additional pages attached (including evidence) 
214 

YOUR NAME: 

YOUR 
ADDRESS: 

Nevada Affordable Housing Assistance Corporation 
5485 Kietzke Lane c1rv,srAre,z1P: Reno, NV 89511 

YOUR Day: 
TELEPHONE: 775-284-0302 

Evening: 
E-MAIL: mbravopritchard@nahac.org 

By my signature below, I affirm that the facts set forth in this document and all of its attachments are 
true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. I am willing to provide sworn testimony if 
necessary regarding these allegations. 

I acknowledge that, pursuant to NRS 281A.440(8) and NAC 281A.255(3), this Request for Opinion, the 
materials submitted in support of the allegations, and the Commission's Investigation are confidential 
until the Commission's Investigatory Panel renders Its determination, unless the Subject of the allegations 
authorizes their release. 

1J!l ~J~ 1 ~ -R~ 
gn ure: / Date: 

Senior Compliance Investigator of the Nevada Affordable Housing 

Print Name: Madeline Bravo-Pritchard Assistance Corporation 

You myst sybmjt an orjqjnal and two copies of thjs form bearjng yoyr sjgnatyre. 
and three copjes of the attachments to: 

Executive Director 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 

704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, Nevada 89703 

Forms submitted by facsimile will not be considered as properly filed with the Commission. 

Revised 0Ml112013t.ELM.c 
!iwl'daCmTllsn4Cllf:'.h ::;2013 

NAC 281A.255(3) 

TELEPHONE REQUESTS FOR OPINION ARE NOT ACCEPTED. 

Third-Party Request for Opinion 
Page3 of 3 



 
 
 
 
 

Th
is 
Pa
ge
 In
ten
tio
na
lly
 Le
ft 
Bla
nk















AGENDA ITEM NO. 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 5 

 



 

STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

http://ethics.nv.gov 
 

MINUTES 
of the meeting of the 

NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

March 18, 2015 
 
These minutes constitute a summary of the above proceedings of the Nevada Commission on 

Ethics.  Verbatim transcripts of the open sessions are available for public inspection at  
the Commission’s office located in Carson City.  

 
The Commission on Ethics held a public meeting on 

Wednesday, March 18, 2015, at 10:00 a.m. at the following location: 
 

Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 

Carson City, NV 89703 
 

OPEN SESSION: 
 

1. Call to Order, Roll Call, and Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 
 

Vice-Chairman, Gregory J. Gale called the meeting to order at 10:02 a.m.  Commissioners 
John C. Carpenter, Tim Cory, Esq., Cheryl A. Lau, Esq., James M. Shaw and Keith A. Weaver 
appeared via telephone. 

 
Present in Carson City, Nevada were Executive Director, Yvonne Nevarez-Goodson, 

Esq., Commission Counsel, Tracy L. Chase, Esq. and Senior Legal Researcher, Darci Hayden.  
Associate Counsel, Jill C. Davis, Esq. appeared via telephone. 

 
Chairman Paul H. Lamboley, Esq., and Commissioner Magdalena Groover were excused 

from this meeting. 
 
2. Open Session for Public Comment.  
 

No public comment. 
 
3. Open Session for consideration and approval of Minutes from the January 5, 2015 

Personnel Subcommittee Meeting, January 13, 2015 Commission Meeting, February 10, 2015 
Personnel Subcommittee Meeting and February 18, 2015 Commission meeting. 

 
Vice-Chairman Gale called for approval of the meeting Minutes and asked if the Minutes 

from the Subcommittee meetings and the Commission Meetings should be voted on together or 
separately.  Commission Counsel, Tracy L. Chase, Esq., recommended approving the Minutes 
separately so that a commissioner could abstain from voting to approve Minutes from a meeting 
in which the commissioner did not serve and/or was not present.  The Commission proceeded 
accordingly with Commissioners Carpenter, Shaw and Weaver abstaining from voting to approve 
the January 5, 2015 and February 10, 2015 Personnel Subcommittee meeting Minutes. 

 

Page 1 of 5  

http://ethics.nv.gov/


 
 
The January 5, 2015 Personnel Subcommittee consisted of Chairman Lamboley, Vice-

Chairman Gale, and Commissioners Cory and Lau.  Commissioner Lau moved to approve the 
January 5, 2015 Personnel Subcommittee meeting minutes.  Commissioner Cory seconded the 
motion.  The motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously, with Chairman Lamboley absent. 

 
Vice-Chairman Gale noted a timeline discrepancy in the draft Minutes for the January 13, 

2015 Commission meeting at Page 2, Item 3, regarding the notation for the break, and Executive 
Director Yvonne Nevarez-Goodson confirmed that the clerical error would be corrected before 
publishing. 

 
Commissioner Lau moved to approve the January 13, 2015 Commission Meeting Minutes.  

Commissioner Cory seconded the motion.  The motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously, 
with Chairman Lamboley and Commissioner Groover absent. 

 
 Commissioner Lau moved to approve the February 10, 2015 Personnel Subcommittee 

Meeting Minutes.  Commissioner Cory seconded the motion.  The motion was put to a vote and 
carried unanimously, with Chairman Lamboley absent. 

 
 Commissioner Lau moved to approve the February 18, 2015 Commission Meeting 

Minutes.  Commissioner Shaw seconded the motion.  The motion was put to a vote and carried 
unanimously, with Chairman Lamboley and Commissioner Groover absent. 

 
 The meeting was called into closed session at 10:28 a.m. 
 

CLOSED SESSION: 
 
4. Closed Session pursuant to NRS 281A.440(8) for consideration of a Jurisdictional Appeal 

by the Requester of Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 14-89N, submitted pursuant to NAC 
281A.405. 

 
This agenda item was held in closed session and will not be available to the public. 

 
5. Closed Session for discussion and consideration of a Proposed Stipulation concerning 

Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 14-15C regarding Gary Lambert, Commissioner, Nevada 
Commission on Off-Highway Vehicles, submitted pursuant to NRS 281A.440(2) 

  
This agenda item was held in closed session and will not be available to the public. 
 
The meeting was called back into open session at 10:53 a.m. 

 
OPEN SESSION: 

 
6. Open Session pursuant to NRS 281A.440(8) for consideration and approval of a proposed 

Stipulation concerning Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 14-15C regarding Gary Lambert, 
Commissioner, Nevada Commission on Off-Highway Vehicles, submitted pursuant to NRS 
281A.440(2). 

 
Commissioner Weaver disclosed his private representation of a client in a lawsuit brought 

by Mr. Honey, Counsel for the Subject in RFO 14-15C, on a matter involving the private interests 
of Mr. Honey and his spouse. Commissioner Weaver abstained from participating in the matter 
based on the nature of his private representation and his role in the matter, even though it did not 
involve Mr. Lambert’s specific matter before the Commission. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson summarized the terms of the proposed Stipulated Agreement 

regarding Gary Lambert, Commissioner of the Nevada Commission on Off-Highway Vehicles 

Page 2 of 5  



 
(“NCOHV”) to include a single, non-willful violation of the Ethics in Government Law for his failure 
to adequately disclose his conflict of interest and his advocacy on behalf of that private interest. 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson also noted two amendments to the draft Stipulated Agreement proposed 
by Chairman Lamboley and advised the Commission to go into Closed Session with Subject’s 
counsel and Commission’s Associate Counsel to approve the changes before returning to the 
open record. 

 
The meeting was called briefly called back into closed session at 10:58 a.m. 
 
The meeting was reconvened in open session at 11:00 a.m. 
 
Vice-Chairman Gale commented that the resolution proposed through the Stipulated 

Agreement would provide NCOHV with training from the Ethics Commission to adjust their internal 
policies and practices consistent with ethics laws. 

 
Commissioner Lau moved to approve the Stipulated Agreement as proposed and revised 

regarding RFO No. 14-15C in the matter of conduct of Gary Lambert, Vice Chair, Nevada 
Commission on Off-Highway Vehicles.  Commissioner Shaw seconded the motion and the motion 
carried unanimously. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson then summarized for the record the facts and issues in the 

Stipulated Agreement and noted that the final Stipulated Agreement would be available to the 
public upon formal execution by the Parties. 

 
7. Open Session for report by the Executive Director on agency status and operations. 
 

Ms. Nevarez-Goodson began her report by welcoming the Commission’s new 
Commission Counsel, Tracy Chase, Esq., and noted that Ms. Chase will be sharing in the agency 
status update in future sessions with the Commission. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson reported that staff has been busy finalizing outstanding 

investigations and that all first-party requests are up to speed.  Ms. Nevarez-Goodson further 
reported the status of outreach and training regarding the Ethics in Government Law has stalled 
recently, primarily due to early training conducted in the northern jurisdictions at the beginning of 
the calendar year, However, Ms. Nevarez-Goodson planned to schedule training in the southern 
jurisdictions coordination with the May meeting of the Commission in Las Vegas. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson also reported that a temporary administrative employee would be 

hired to cover Valerie Carter’s upcoming leave and the goal was to have the temporary employee 
start while Ms. Carter was still here to provide training.  Vice-Chairman Gale asked where the 
funds were coming from to pay for the temporary employee and Ms. Nevarez-Goodson explained 
that the Commission had available funds remaining from the court reporter budget, and she 
clarified that the temporary employee would be in place for approximately 12 weeks and that there 
were sufficient funds within our existing budget through a work program without needing to get 
approval for additional funds from the Interim Finance Committee. 

 
Vice Chairman Gale asked one last question regarding scheduling Ethics Law training 

with the Nevada Commission on Off-Highway Vehicles, and Ms. Nevarez-Goodson reported that 
she would be reaching out to that Commission to schedule training as soon as possible. 

 
8. Open Session for discussion and potential direction to the Executive Director regarding 

the 2015 Session of the Nevada Legislature, including an update on the Commission’s legislative 
measures (A.B. 60) and budget presentations before the Nevada Legislature. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson reported that, with regard to A.B. 60, she was still waiting for the 

mock amendment from LCB’s legal division to place it on the agenda for the Assembly Committee 

Page 3 of 5  



 
on Legislative Operations and Election, with the deadline to get it through the first house coming 
up April 10, 2015.  Ms. Nevarez-Goodson reported that she was hopeful that the efforts 
undertaken in the working group for the bill would satisfy the local governments who had some 
concerns about that legislation so that it would be placed on the work session of the Assembly 
Committee. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson reported that she was notified only two days ago that our budget 

closing would occur on Monday, March 23 in the morning before both House budget committees, 
and that we still had not been able to fully vet the issue about salary enhancements, which the 
Governor had not approved. The Commission directed Ms. Nevarez-Goodson to pursue those 
budget proposals before the Legislature and follow any possible avenues for getting the salary 
enhancements through the legislative process, i.e., fixed through the unclassified pay bill.  Ms. 
Nevarez-Goodson stated that with full respect for the Governor’s recommended budget, the 
Commission has historically pursued legislative approval given our unique agency status 
including appointments by the legislature. Ms. Nevarez-Goodson pointed out that Legislators 
were receptive to the salary issues during her meetings in prior weeks. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson also reminded the Commission regarding the history of acquiring 

the new Associate Counsel position in the last legislative session, including that the position was 
intended to be subordinate to the duties of the Executive Director regarding third-party cases and 
the Commission Counsel for Legal support in all other matters.  The position was listed in the 
Unclassified Pay Bill at the last minute as another Commission Counsel position to get a 
competitive salary for the Associate Counsel position. However, this resulted in a conflict with the 
statute that allows for only one Commission Counsel position in our agency and an equivalent 
salary as the Executive Director and Commission Counsel.  Staff has been trying to correct this 
since the last legislative session, though unsuccessful to date.  Staff was told that the primary 
way to correct the problem (resulting in an increase to the Executive Director and Commission 
Counsel salary and a correction to the Associate Counsel title in the pay bill) was to work it through 
this legislative session’s Unclassified Pay Bill. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson then asked the Commission to advise as to how to proceed from 

this point forward. Discussion ensued regarding the Commission’s support for the salary and title 
adjustments, noting that the Governor did not support any pay raises this session, but also noting 
that it is the right thing for the agency and employees to proceed with aligning the salaries and 
titles that were left incomplete from last session.  The Commission asked Ms. Nevarez-Goodson 
to provide further information on the status and next steps before the Legislature. 

 
Commissioner Cory asked to be excused from the meeting and dropped off the 

conference call.  
 
9. Open Session for Commissioner comments on matters including, without limitation, future 

agenda items, upcoming meeting dates and meeting procedures. 
 
Vice-Chairman Gale noted his approval and acceptance of the Commission Counsel’s offer 

to meet with the individual Commissioners and the Executive Director to discuss goals and to 
brainstorm ideas for the agency.  Ms. Nevarez-Goodson confirmed that efforts to schedule 
meetings in the various locations with the respective Commissioners would ensue, starting with 
the travel already scheduled for Las Vegas for the May meeting. No other items were offered for 
discussion. 
 
/// 
 
///  

Page 4 of 5  



 
 
10. Open Session for Public Comment. Comment and/or testimony by any member of the 

public may be limited to three (3) minutes. No action will be taken under this agenda item. 
 
No public comment. 

 
11. Adjournment. 
 
Vice-Chairman Gale adjourned the meeting at 11:40 a.m.   
 
 
Minutes prepared by:     Minutes approved:  May 20, 2015: 
 
 
    
Darci Hayden         Gregory J. Gale 
Senior Legal Researcher     Vice-Chairman 
 
  
Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
Executive Director 

Page 5 of 5  



AGENDA ITEM NO. 6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6 

 



St
at

e 
of

 N
ev

ad
a 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 o
n 

Et
hi

cs
R

eq
ue

st
s 

fo
r O

pi
ni

on
 F

Y 
20

14
-2

01
5 

Lo
g

1

RF
O

 
N

o.
Da

te
 F

ile
d

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n

Su
bj

ec
t o

f R
FO

Re
qu

es
te

r

Ju
ris

-
di

ct
io

na
l 

Ap
pe

al
 H

rg
 

Da
te

Pa
ne

l d
at

e 
He

ar
in

g 
da

te

Fi
na

l 
Di

sp
os

iti
on

 
Is

su
ed

 (d
at

e)

St
at

ut
es

 
im

pl
ic

at
ed

W
ai

ve
r o

f T
im

e/
Co

nf
id

en
tia

lit
y

O
th

er
 N

O
TE

S

# 
da

ys
 fr

om
 

Hr
g 

to
 

Di
sp

os
iti

on
 

of
 R

FO

# 
da

ys
 fr

om
 

Fi
lin

g 
to

 
Di

sp
os

iti
on

 
of

 R
FO

15
-2

9
Em

ai
l 

5/
4/

15
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

Pe
nd

in
g 

re
ce

ip
t o

f 
or

ig
in

al
 R

FO
 v

ia
 

m
ai

l

15
-2

8A
5/

4/
15

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

Se
lf

Pe
nd

in
g

15
-2

7N
4/

29
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

15
-2

6C
4/

29
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

Pe
nd

in
g 

Re
sp

on
se

 to
 

RF
O

15
-2

5A
4/

16
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
Se

lf
5/

6/
15

Co
nf

id
en

tia
l 

O
pi

ni
on

 
Pe

nd
in

g

15
-2

4W
4/

20
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
Se

lf
W

ith
dr

aw
n 

vi
a 

em
ai

l o
n 

4/
28

/1
5

8

15
-2

3N
4/

6/
15

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX

15
-2

2N
4/

6/
15

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX

15
-2

1C
3/

30
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

Pe
nd

in
g 

In
ve

st
ig

at
io

n 

15
-2

0N
3/

30
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

15
-1

9N
3/

30
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

15
-1

8N
3/

30
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

15
-1

7N
3/

30
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

Pe
nd

in
g 

JD
 

Ap
pe

al
 

5/
20

/1
5

15
-1

6N
3/

30
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

15
-1

5N
3/

30
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX



St
at

e 
of

 N
ev

ad
a 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 o
n 

Et
hi

cs
R

eq
ue

st
s 

fo
r O

pi
ni

on
 F

Y 
20

14
-2

01
5 

Lo
g

2

RF
O

 
N

o.
Da

te
 F

ile
d

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n

Su
bj

ec
t o

f R
FO

Re
qu

es
te

r

Ju
ris

-
di

ct
io

na
l 

Ap
pe

al
 H

rg
 

Da
te

Pa
ne

l d
at

e 
He

ar
in

g 
da

te

Fi
na

l 
Di

sp
os

iti
on

 
Is

su
ed

 (d
at

e)

St
at

ut
es

 
im

pl
ic

at
ed

W
ai

ve
r o

f T
im

e/
Co

nf
id

en
tia

lit
y

O
th

er
 N

O
TE

S

# 
da

ys
 fr

om
 

Hr
g 

to
 

Di
sp

os
iti

on
 

of
 R

FO

# 
da

ys
 fr

om
 

Fi
lin

g 
to

 
Di

sp
os

iti
on

 
of

 R
FO

15
-1

4N
3/

30
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

15
-1

3N
3/

30
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

Pe
nd

in
g 

JD
 

Ap
pe

al
 

5/
20

/1
5

15
-1

2N
3/

30
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

15
-1

1N
3/

30
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

15
-1

0N
3/

24
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

15
-0

9N
2/

26
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

15
-0

8C
2/

9/
15

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
Pe

nd
in

g 
In

ve
st

ig
at

io
n 

15
-0

7C
2/

9/
15

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
Pe

nd
in

g 
In

ve
st

ig
at

io
n 

15
-0

6W
2/

9/
15

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

Se
lf

W
ith

dr
aw

n 
vi

a 
em

ai
l o

n 
3/

4/
15

23

15
-0

5N
2/

9/
15

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX

15
-0

4W
2/

4/
15

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

Se
lf

W
ith

dr
aw

n 
vi

a 
em

ai
l o

n 
2/

26
/1

5
17

15
-0

3C
2/

4/
15

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
Pe

nd
in

g 
In

ve
st

ig
at

io
n 

15
-0

2C
1/

29
/1

5
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

Pe
nd

in
g 

In
ve

st
ig

at
io

n 

15
-0

1N
1/

5/
15

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX

14
-9

3N
12

/2
4/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-9

2N
12

/2
2/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX



St
at

e 
of

 N
ev

ad
a 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 o
n 

Et
hi

cs
R

eq
ue

st
s 

fo
r O

pi
ni

on
 F

Y 
20

14
-2

01
5 

Lo
g

3

RF
O

 
N

o.
Da

te
 F

ile
d

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n

Su
bj

ec
t o

f R
FO

Re
qu

es
te

r

Ju
ris

-
di

ct
io

na
l 

Ap
pe

al
 H

rg
 

Da
te

Pa
ne

l d
at

e 
He

ar
in

g 
da

te

Fi
na

l 
Di

sp
os

iti
on

 
Is

su
ed

 (d
at

e)

St
at

ut
es

 
im

pl
ic

at
ed

W
ai

ve
r o

f T
im

e/
Co

nf
id

en
tia

lit
y

O
th

er
 N

O
TE

S

# 
da

ys
 fr

om
 

Hr
g 

to
 

Di
sp

os
iti

on
 

of
 R

FO

# 
da

ys
 fr

om
 

Fi
lin

g 
to

 
Di

sp
os

iti
on

 
of

 R
FO

14
-9

1N
12

/2
2/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-9

0N
12

/2
2/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-8

9N
12

/1
5/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

3/
18

/1
5

O
rd

er
 re

 JD
 

iss
ue

d 
3/

19
/1

5
N

o 
Ju

ris
di

ct
io

n
94

14
-8

8N
12

/1
5/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-8

7N
12

/1
5/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-8

6N
12

/1
5/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-8

5N
12

/1
5/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-8

4N
10

/2
7/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

1/
21

/1
5

O
rd

er
 re

 JD
 

iss
ue

d 
1/

26
/1

5
N

o 
Ju

ris
di

ct
io

n
91

14
-8

3N
12

/8
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-8

2A
12

/8
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
Se

lf
12

/1
7/

14
Co

nf
id

en
tia

l 
O

pi
ni

on
 

2/
26

/1
5

Pe
nd

in
g 

Ab
st

ra
ct

14
-8

1N
12

/3
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-8

0N
12

/2
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

1/
21

/1
5

O
rd

er
 re

 JD
 

iss
ue

d 
1/

27
/1

5
N

o 
Ju

ris
di

ct
io

n
56

14
-7

9C
11

/2
4/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

Pe
nd

in
g 

In
ve

st
ig

at
io

n 

14
-7

8A
11

/1
7/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
Se

lf
1/

21
/1

5
Co

nf
id

en
tia

l 
O

pi
ni

on
 

3/
24

/1
5

Co
nf

id
en

tia
lit

y 
w

ai
ve

d 
vi

a 
em

ai
l 

4/
28

/1
5

62
12

7

14
-7

7N
11

/1
2/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX



St
at

e 
of

 N
ev

ad
a 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 o
n 

Et
hi

cs
R

eq
ue

st
s 

fo
r O

pi
ni

on
 F

Y 
20

14
-2

01
5 

Lo
g

4

RF
O

 
N

o.
Da

te
 F

ile
d

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n

Su
bj

ec
t o

f R
FO

Re
qu

es
te

r

Ju
ris

-
di

ct
io

na
l 

Ap
pe

al
 H

rg
 

Da
te

Pa
ne

l d
at

e 
He

ar
in

g 
da

te

Fi
na

l 
Di

sp
os

iti
on

 
Is

su
ed

 (d
at

e)

St
at

ut
es

 
im

pl
ic

at
ed

W
ai

ve
r o

f T
im

e/
Co

nf
id

en
tia

lit
y

O
th

er
 N

O
TE

S

# 
da

ys
 fr

om
 

Hr
g 

to
 

Di
sp

os
iti

on
 

of
 R

FO

# 
da

ys
 fr

om
 

Fi
lin

g 
to

 
Di

sp
os

iti
on

 
of

 R
FO

14
-7

6N
10

/1
6/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-7

5C
10

/2
7/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

12
/1

7/
14

3/
18

/1
5

Di
sm

iss
ed

 b
y 

Pa
ne

l 
3/

30
/1

5

Su
bj

ec
t a

pp
ea

le
d 

JD
, A

pp
ea

l d
en

ie
d 

vi
a 

O
rd

er
 is

su
ed

 
12

/1
8/

14

12
15

4

14
-7

4N
10

/2
7/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

1/
21

/1
5

O
rd

er
 re

 JD
 

iss
ue

d 
1/

26
/1

5
N

o 
Ju

ris
di

ct
io

n
91

14
-7

3C
10

/2
3/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

Pe
nd

in
g 

Pa
ne

l
W

ai
ve

r o
f T

im
e 

(I&
H)

 re
c.

 1
2/

1/
14

14
-7

2N
10

/2
0/

14
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

12
/1

7/
14

O
rd

er
 re

 JD
 

iss
ue

d 
12

/1
8/

14
N

o 
Ju

ris
di

ct
io

n
59

14
-7

1C
10

/1
3/

14
El

ko
 C

ou
nt

y
Jim

 P
itt

s,
 E

lk
o 

Co
un

ty
 S

he
rif

f
M

el
in

da
 

Ka
hl

e

Pa
ne

l H
rg

 
1/

21
/1

5
Pa

ne
l I

I H
rg

 
4/

23
/1

5

Pe
nd

in
g 

He
ar

in
g 

on
 

M
tn

 
8/

19
/1

5

N
ot

ic
e 

on
 

Ad
di

tio
na

l i
ss

ue
s 

1/
29

/1
5

14
-7

0C
10

/6
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

Pe
nd

in
g 

Pa
ne

l 
5/

20
/1

5

14
-6

9N
9/

30
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-6

8N
9/

29
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-6

7N
9/

29
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX



St
at

e 
of

 N
ev

ad
a 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 o
n 

Et
hi

cs
R

eq
ue

st
s 

fo
r O

pi
ni

on
 F

Y 
20

14
-2

01
5 

Lo
g

5

RF
O

 
N

o.
Da

te
 F

ile
d

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n

Su
bj

ec
t o

f R
FO

Re
qu

es
te

r

Ju
ris

-
di

ct
io

na
l 

Ap
pe

al
 H

rg
 

Da
te

Pa
ne

l d
at

e 
He

ar
in

g 
da

te

Fi
na

l 
Di

sp
os

iti
on

 
Is

su
ed

 (d
at

e)

St
at

ut
es

 
im

pl
ic

at
ed

W
ai

ve
r o

f T
im

e/
Co

nf
id

en
tia

lit
y

O
th

er
 N

O
TE

S

# 
da

ys
 fr

om
 

Hr
g 

to
 

Di
sp

os
iti

on
 

of
 R

FO

# 
da

ys
 fr

om
 

Fi
lin

g 
to

 
Di

sp
os

iti
on

 
of

 R
FO

14
-6

6A
9/

24
/1

4
St

at
e 

of
 

N
ev

ad
a

Ro
ge

r Z
in

gr
e,

 
Em

m
iss

io
n 

Co
nt

ro
l 

Te
ch

in
ic

ia
n 

II,
 

DM
V

Se
lf

10
/1

5/
14

O
pi

ni
on

 
11

/1
8/

20
14

41
0(

1(
b)

, 
55

0(
3)

(5
)

(6
)

Co
nf

id
en

tia
lit

y 
W

ai
ve

d
34

55

14
-6

5N
9/

23
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-6

4C
9/

22
/1

4
St

at
e 

of
 

N
ev

ad
a

As
ho

k 
M

irc
ha

nd
an

i, 
De

pu
ty

 D
ire

ct
or

, 
De

pt
. o

f B
us

in
es

s 
&

 In
du

st
ry

M
. B

ra
vo

-
Pr

itc
ha

rd
 

Pa
ne

l W
ai

ve
d 

Pe
nd

in
g 

Hr
g 

on
 S

tip
 

5/
20

/1
5

W
ai

ve
r o

f T
im

e 
(I&

H)
 re

c.
 1

1/
20

/1
4

W
ai

ve
r o

f P
an

el
 

an
d 

Co
nf

id
en

tia
lit

y 
re

c.
 5

/4
/1

5

14
-6

3N
8/

25
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-6

2N
8/

18
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-6

1C
8/

4/
14

St
at

e 
of

 
N

ev
ad

a

Ti
m

 K
uz

an
ek

, 
U

nd
er

sh
er

iff
, 

W
as

ho
e 

Co
un

ty
Jo

hn
 L

itz
Pa

ne
l W

ai
ve

d 
1/

21
/1

5
St

ip
ul

at
io

n 
2/

4/
20

15

N
RS

 
28

1A
.0

20
, 

40
0(

7)

W
ai

ve
r o

f T
im

e 
(I 

&
 

H)
 re

c'
d 

10
/2

/1
4

14
18

4

14
-6

0W
7/

31
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
Se

lf
8/

20
/1

4
W

ith
dr

aw
n 

vi
a 

em
ai

l 
12

/2
3/

14
14

5

14
-5

9C
7/

30
/1

4
St

or
ey

 
Co

un
ty

Ge
ra

ld
 A

nt
in

or
o,

 
Sh

er
iff

, S
to

re
y 

Co
un

ty

Sh
aw

n 
M

ah
an

2/
26

/1
5 

(d
ism

iss
ed

 in
 

pa
rt

)

Pe
nd

in
g 

M
tn

 
5/

20
/1

5

W
ai

ve
r o

f T
im

e 
(I 

&
 

H)
 re

c'
d 

9/
29

/1
4 

Ce
rt

ai
n 

al
le

ga
tio

ns
 

fo
rw

ar
de

d 
to

 
Co

m
m

iss
io

n 
by

 
Pa

ne
l o

n 
2/

26
/1

5



St
at

e 
of

 N
ev

ad
a 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 o
n 

Et
hi

cs
R

eq
ue

st
s 

fo
r O

pi
ni

on
 F

Y 
20

14
-2

01
5 

Lo
g

6

RF
O

 
N

o.
Da

te
 F

ile
d

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n

Su
bj

ec
t o

f R
FO

Re
qu

es
te

r

Ju
ris

-
di

ct
io

na
l 

Ap
pe

al
 H

rg
 

Da
te

Pa
ne

l d
at

e 
He

ar
in

g 
da

te

Fi
na

l 
Di

sp
os

iti
on

 
Is

su
ed

 (d
at

e)

St
at

ut
es

 
im

pl
ic

at
ed

W
ai

ve
r o

f T
im

e/
Co

nf
id

en
tia

lit
y

O
th

er
 N

O
TE

S

# 
da

ys
 fr

om
 

Hr
g 

to
 

Di
sp

os
iti

on
 

of
 R

FO

# 
da

ys
 fr

om
 

Fi
lin

g 
to

 
Di

sp
os

iti
on

 
of

 R
FO

14
-5

8N
7/

23
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

14
-5

7N
7/

7/
14

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX

14
-5

6N
7/

1/
14

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX

14
-2

2C
3/

5/
14

St
at

e 
of

 
N

ev
ad

a

Jim
 W

he
el

er
, 

As
se

m
bl

ym
an

, 
N

ev
ad

a 
Le

gi
sla

tu
re

Fr
ed

 V
ol

tz

Hr
g 

on
 

M
tn

2D
is-

m
iss

/J
D 

11
/1

9/
14

Pe
nd

in
g

W
ai

ve
r o

f T
im

e 
4/

7/
14

, S
ta

ye
d 

pe
nd

in
g 

Pe
tit

io
n4

Re
vi

ew
 o

n 
JD

, C
on

fid
en

tia
lit

y 
W

ai
ve

d

14
-2

1C
3/

5/
14

St
at

e 
of

 
N

ev
ad

a

Ira
 H

an
se

n,
 

As
se

m
bl

ym
an

, 
N

ev
ad

a 
Le

gi
sla

tu
re

Fr
ed

 V
ol

tz

Hr
g 

on
 

M
tn

2D
is-

m
iss

/J
D 

11
/1

9/
14

Pe
nd

in
g

W
ai

ve
r o

f T
im

e 
4/

17
/1

4,
 S

ta
ye

d 
pe

nd
in

g 
Pe

tit
io

n4
Re

vi
ew

 o
n 

JD
, C

on
fid

en
tia

lit
y 

W
ai

ve
d

14
-0

9A
1/

29
/1

4
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
Se

lf
3/

18
/1

4
Co

nf
id

en
tia

l 
O

pi
ni

on
 

Pe
nd

in
g

XX
XX

XX
 =

 C
on

fid
en

tia
l 

FI
SC

A
L 

YE
A

R
 2

01
3-

20
14

FI
SC

A
L 

YE
A

R
 2

01
4-

20
15



AGENDA ITEM NO. 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 7 
 

JUDICIAL DISCIPLINE BUDGET 
AND EXHIBIT 






































































































































	Antinoro Meeting Book PUBLIC docs.pdf
	20150211_ACreportPanel and Exhibits_14-59C(Antinoro)_dh.pdf
	STATE OF NEVADA
	BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS
	Associate Counsel’s Report and Recommendation to Investigatory Panel
	III. Allegations:
	IV. Facts: At all material times, the following events were relevant to this matter:
	a. On March 10, 2014, We Care volunteer, Merilee Miller, attended a We Care meeting at the Storey County Sheriff’s Office Lockwood Substation.
	b. While she was waiting in the parking lot for Deputy Mendoza and Sheriff Antinoro to open up the building for the We Care meeting, Deputy Mahan arrived at the Substation.
	c. Mahan noticed a “Gerald Antinoro for Storey County Sheriff” sign affixed to Miller’s personal vehicle while it was parked in the Lockwood Substation parking lot.
	d. Mahan spoke with Sheriff Antinoro regarding the issue as Mahan felt that it was in violation of county policies for Miller, a We Care officer and Sheriff’s Office volunteer, to be in a county parking lot with political signs affixed to her personal...
	e. Sheriff Antinoro disagreed with Mahan, and Mahan wrote up the incident in a Misdemeanor Report naming Miller, Sheriff Antinoro, Deputy Mendoza, and Joseph Walsh.  (NCOE Exhibit 1 - Misdemeanor Report)
	f. The Misdemeanor Report was submitted to Sgt. Bowers, who returned the report to Mahan for clarification. However, Mahan did not re-submit the report to Sgt. Bowers for final approval.
	Infinity Hospice Event
	VI. Analysis
	a. Overview: Seeking Personal Gain Through Use of Public Office
	Both entities, We Care and Infinity Hospice, engage the senior population in Storey County, and the senior population votes.  It is a well-known fact that seniors vote consistently in elections, which makes them a key constituency in any election.
	The Cease and Desist Order can be read to preclude participation in a broad array of senior events.  It states that the Sheriff’s Office already “has in place a senior awareness program.” (See NCOE Exhibit 3, paragraph 2)     The Order seeks to prev...
	Such an expansive reading of the Order stems not just from the words themselves but from the origin of the Order.   The Infinity Flyer in question made no mention of Mahan as a member of the Sheriff’s office, or even any mention of his candidacy for...
	The Order continues to attack Infinity and Mahan.  In Paragraph 3 of the Order discusses the fact that Mahan has not provided any evidence that Infinity Hospice Care is a proper entity to conduct business in the county or is superior to the current ...
	However, the Sheriff’s We Care organization is more expansive regarding its services to seniors and more general outreach events.  We Care is primarily a senior community outreach organization providing outreach and education events whereas Infinity...
	The closing paragraphs of the Order state:
	Lastly, the Sheriff, as your employer, has a duty to present our citizens consistent and cohesive service.  Your planned event is directly contrary to his intent due to, among other things, a conflict with an existing sanctioned program.  As your Sher...
	Participation in this program by you will result in severe disciplinary action being taken against you.  I encourage you to seek approval from the Sheriff before any such event is planned in the future.
	Seniors are the key to the voter turnout in Storey County.  (Interview Antinoro, Mahan and investigation)  Sheriff Antinoro denies that the Cease and Desist Order is political, however on its face it appears to target Mahan’s interaction with the se...
	It appears from the facts presented that the Order seeks to prevent Mahan from attending or associating with any senior events or organizations based upon Mahan’s status as a deputy.  The fact that Mahan is a deputy and known to be a deputy in the c...
	The Miller incident and the Order, among other things, triggered an internal affairs investigation and Antinoro subsequently placed Mahan on administrative leave.  Key aspects of the administrative leave are as follows:
	NRS 281A.400 (1) states:
	A public officer or employee shall not seek or accept any gift, service, favor, employment, engagement, emolument or economic opportunity which would tend improperly to influence a reasonable person in the public officer’s or employee’s position to de...
	VII. CONCLUSIONS


	Mirchandani Meeting Book PUBLIC docs.pdf
	20141219_Mirchandani Response without Exhibits.pdf
	Exhibits 1-10.pdf
	Exhibits 1-4
	Exhibits 5-6
	5-6.1
	5-6.2

	Exhibits 7-10

	Exhibits 11-20.pdf
	Exhibits 11-14
	Exhibits 15-20

	Exhibits 21-31.pdf
	Exhibits 21-25
	Exhibits 26-31



	20150507_DraftMeeting_Minutes_dh[YMNG].pdf
	MINUTES

	WORKING RFO LOG FY15 for Commissioners.pdf
	FY13-FY15 Combined




